



University of Groningen

Anisotropic Laser-Pulse-Induced Magnetization Dynamics in van der Waals Magnet Fe\$_3\$GeTe\$_2\$

Lichtenberg, Tom; Schippers, Casper F.; Kooten, Sjoerd C. P. van; Evers, Stijn G. F.; Barcones, Beatriz; Guimarães, Marcos H. D.; Koopmans, Bert

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Early version, also known as pre-print

Publication date: 2022

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Lichtenberg, T., Schippers, C. F., Kooten, S. C. P. V., Evers, S. G. F., Barcones, B., Guimarães, M. H. D., & Koopmans, B. (2022). Anisotropic Laser-Pulse-Induced Magnetization Dynamics in van der Waals Magnet Fe\$_3\$GeTe\$_2\$. (ArXiv). arXiv. https://arxiv.org/abs/2206.01452

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

Take-down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Anisotropic Laser-Pulse-Induced Magnetization Dynamics in van der Waals Magnet Fe₃GeTe₂

Tom Lichtenberg,^{1,*} Casper F. Schippers,¹ Sjoerd C.P. van Kooten,¹ Stijn G.F.

Evers,¹ Beatriz Barcones,² Marcos H. D. Guimarães,³ and Bert Koopmans¹

¹Department of Applied Physics, Eindhoven University of Technology, P.O. Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, The Netherlands ²NanoLabTUe, Eindhoven University of Technology,

P.O. Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, The Netherlands

³Zernike Institute for Advanced Materials, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 4, 9747 AG Groningen, The Netherlands

(Dated: June 6, 2022)

Abstract

Femtosecond laser-pulse excitation provides an energy efficient and fast way to control magnetization at the nanoscale, providing great potential for ultrafast next-generation data manipulation and nonvolatile storage devices. Ferromagnetic van der Waals materials have garnered much attention over the past few years due to their low dimensionality, excellent magnetic properties, and large response to external stimuli. Nonetheless, their behaviour upon fs laser-pulse excitation remains largely unexplored. Here, we investigate the ultrafast magnetization dynamics of a thin flake of Fe₃GeTe₂ (FGT) and extract its intrinsic magnetic properties using a microscopic framework. We find that our data is well described by our modelling, with FGT undergoing a slow two-step demagnetization, and we experimentally extract the spin-relaxation timescale as a function of temperature, magnetic field and excitation fluence. Our observations indicate a large spin-flip probability in agreement with a theoretically expected large spin-orbit coupling, as well as a weak interlayer exchange coupling. The spin-flip probability is found to increase when the magnetization is pulled away from its quantization axis, opening doors to an external control over the spins in this material. Our results provide a deeper understanding of the dynamics van der Waals materials upon fs laser-pulse excitation, paving the way towards two-dimensional materials-based ultrafast spintronics.

^{*} t.lichtenberg@tue.nl

CONTENTS

I		Introduction						
II		Methods and sample characterization						
III		Experimental results and Discussion						
	А	Demagnetization dynamics of FGT	6					
	В	Magnetic-field dependence	10					
IV Conclusion and Outlook								
V		Acknowledgements	14					
VI Supplementary Material								
	i	More details on pump-probe spectroscopy and the experimental setup $\ . \ . \ .$	15					
	ii	Data normalization	16					
	iii	Data fitting using the 3-temperature model	17					
	iv	Fe content in bulk FGT crystal	18					
	v	Atomic force microscopy image of the FGT flake shown in the main text $~$.	19					
	vi	Full datasets of ultrafast demagnetization	20					
	vi	i More details on the microscopic 3-temperature model	21					
	vi	ii Simulation parameters	23					
	ix	Relation between the maximum demagnetization and the spin-flip probability	24					
	x	Average laser heating of the FGT flake	25					
	References 26							

I. INTRODUCTION

As conventional data storage and manipulation technologies are reaching their fundamental limits in terms of bit density and processing speed, the need for faster and more efficient solutions has never been more apparent. The possibility of sub-ps control of magnetization with laser-pulses was first discovered in 1996 by Beaurepaire *et al.*, and has been a major subject of research since then [1]. Large strides towards applications that operate on this ultimate timescale have been made with the discovery of fs-laser induced all-optical magnetization switching (AOS) [2], ultrafast spin-current generation [3–5], and spin-wave excitation [6– 8]. Simultaneously, several theoretical frameworks have been developed to understand the microscopic mechanisms governing this phenomenon, both in terms of local [9–11] and nonlocal [12] angular momentum dissipation.

The recent discovery of long-range magnetic order in atomically-thin van der Waals (vdW) materials [13–17] provides a new and exciting platform for ultrafast spintronics. Their ability to stack without the need for lattice matching makes them ideal candidates for multi-component applications based on for instance spin-current injection, spin-wave excitation and AOS. The first step towards such applications is studying the underlying fundamental phenomena in vdW magnets, namely laser-induced demagnetization and spin precession. Additionally, their ultrafast magnetization dynamics can unveil some of their important magnetic and spintronic properties, such as spin-flip rates and electron-phonon coupling. Although magnetic vdW materials have been studied extensively over the past few years, their magnetic response to ultra-short fs laser-pulses remains scarcely explored [18, 19].

One of the most promising vdW ferromagnets is Fe_3GeTe_2 (FGT - Figure 1a), due to its relatively high Curie temperature (T_C) of 220 – 230 K and strong perpendicular magnetic anisotropy [20]. This makes FGT especially suitable for application in spin-valves [21, 22] and allows for efficient spin-orbit torques [23–25]. Furthermore, its properties allow for the stabilization of complex spin structures such as spin spirals and skyrmions [26, 27]. Unraveling the physics governing laser-pulse induced demagnetization dynamics in FGT brings us one step further towards unifying the fields of vdW materials, spintronics and (ultrafast) photonics.

In this work, we study the fs laser-pulse induced demagnetization dynamics of thin-film FGT. Specifically, we measure the timescales involved with the demagnetization process as a

function of laser fluence, ambient temperature and applied magnetic field. We compare our experimental results to calculations based on the well-established microscopic 3-temperature model (M3TM) [28], and find very good quantitative agreement. We find that FGT undergoes a two-step demagnetization (type-II), in agreement with an earlier study [19], which we attributed to its low Curie temperature and relatively large atomic moment. Nonetheless, our theoretical analysis indicates a surprisingly large spin-flip probability, contrary to the earlier claims of long spin lifetimes, but in agreement with theoretical expectations of large spin-orbit coupling in FGT. The laser-induced demagnetization is found to be strongly dependent on an applied in-plane magnetic field, consistent with an anisotropy in the spin-flip probability, which has been predicted for other material classes [29, 30]. Moreover, contrary to recent studies in $Cr_2Ge_2Te_6$ (CGT) [19], we were unable to excite ferromagnetic resonance (FMR) modes. We hypothesize that this is caused by strong dephasing of the FMR mode due to weak interlayer coupling and in-plane anisotropy variations.

II. METHODS AND SAMPLE CHARACTERIZATION

Our samples are fabricated through mechanical exfoliation of commercially available FGT crystals (HQ Graphene) in inert nitrogen atmosphere and transferred to an optical cryostat without air exposure, where the sample is then kept in high vacuum (< 10^{-6} mBar) throughout all experiments. To measure the magneto-optical response we apply an external magnetic field (H_{ext}) at an angle ϕ_{H} with respect to the sample plane. Due to the out-of-plane magnetic anisotropy field of FGT (H_{ani}), the magnetization m will be tilted from the out-of-plane direction, according to the effective magnetic field H_{eff} . Figure 1b shows a diagram indicating all relevant directions and angles.

After selecting a thin FGT flake (figure 1c) using an optical microscope, the flake is probed using magneto-optical Kerr effect (MOKE) microscopy at low temperatures (T = 80K). This way, magnetically homogeneous areas with clear single-domain behavior of several μ m² are identified, figure 1d and e. The flake for which the results are shown here was characterized by atomic force microscopy after all other experiments were completed to obtain its thickness, $t = 16.8 \pm 0.7$ nm, corresponding to 20 ± 1 monolayers (See section V of the supplementary information [32]).

For our MOKE measurements we use a mode-locked Ti:Sapphire laser centered at 735



FIG. 1. (a) Crystal structure of FGT, drawn using *Mercury* [31] (b) Schematic representation of the orientation of the magnetization and relevant (effective) magnetic fields. $\phi_{\rm H}$ indicates the angle between the applied field and the sample plane (x-axis) (c) Optical micrograph of the studied FGT flake. The blue square indicates the homogeneous area on which experiments are conducted. (d,e) MOKE imaging of the flake after saturation with a field of +400 mT and -400 mT, respectively. (f) Typical MOKE hysteresis loop measured on the FGT flake for $\phi_{\rm H} = 19^{\circ}$. (g) Temperature dependence of the inverse magnetic susceptibility of the bulk crystal (green triangles) and the MOKE signal measured on the flake (blue circles), as defined in figure f. The black line indicates the fit with a power law, used to extract the Curie temperature. Measurements d, e and f are done at 80 K.

nm with a repetition rate of 82 MHz and 85 fs of pulse width at the sample location, with a spot size of $2.9 \times 1.7 \text{ }\mu\text{m}^2$. Using hysteresis curves of MOKE signal versus H_{ext} at $\phi_{\text{H}} = 19^{\circ}$ (figure 1f), we obtain the MOKE amplitude A versus temperature (blue circles in figure 1g). We find that the MOKE signal decreases abruptly around 200 K, in agreement with vibrating sample magnetometry measurements done in a bulk FGT flake (figure 1g, green triangles).

The inverse magnetic susceptibility (χ^{-1}) of the bulk crystal is well described by a power law for the paramagnetic phase given by $(T - T_{\rm C})^{\gamma}$. A clear transition point corresponding to the Curie temperature $T_{\rm C} = 191 \pm 2$ K is observed, with $\gamma = 1.3 \pm 0.1$, which is close to the typical exponent for a three-dimensional Ising magnet ($\gamma \sim 1.25$) [33]. We note that the Curie temperature is significantly lower than expected for stoichiometric FGT [20, 34–37], indicating that our material is slightly Fe deficient [38]. This is further confirmed by Energydispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) measurements (see section IV of the supplementary information [32]).

The laser-induced demagnetization measurements described below are performed by pump-probe spectroscopy using the same setup as above. The higher intensity pump beam, with focused area of $9.6 \times 6.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$, is obtained from the same laser and overlapped onto the probe spot. For additional experimental details see section I of the supplementary information [32].

III. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A. Demagnetization dynamics of FGT

As can be seen in figure 2a, a clear two-step laser-induced demagnetization process is observed in our samples, indicative of type-II demagnetization, similar to rare-earth ferromagnets Gd and Tb [39, 40] as well as the vdW magnets CGT [18, 19]. The total magnetization quenching is proportional to the pump laser fluence, which is attributed to the increased heating towards the Curie temperature. Two distinct timescales can be distinguished: $\tau_{\rm e}$ and $\tau_{\rm m}$. They are commonly referred to as the electron-phonon relaxation and magnetic timescale respectively. How these timescales relate to the physics of laser-induced demagnetization will be discussed later.

To extract the relevant demagnetization timescales, the data are fitted with an analytical solution of the phenomenological 3-temperature model (3TM) [41]. The fitting procedure is discussed in more details in section III of the supplementary information [32]. Although some temperature dependence of $\tau_{\rm e}$ has been reported in literature [42, 43], we assume a temperature (and thus fluence) independence in our analysis to avoid overparameterization of the model. Furthermore, this allows us to study the changes of $\tau_{\rm m}$, which are typically



FIG. 2. (a) Laser-induced demagnetization measured at four different laser fluences. The data fitting (black line) was done using the procedure described in Sec III of the supplementary information [32]. (b) Magnetic timescale $\tau_{\rm m}$ as a function of the normalized total demagnetization. (c) Laser-induced demagnetization for different ambient temperatures. (d) Magnetic timescale $\tau_{\rm m}$ as a function of temperature, fitted with equation 3 (black line). The data in a and c are normalized using the methods described in section II of the supplementary information and offset vertically for clarity [32].

large [28, 44]. A global electron-phonon relaxation timescale of $\tau_{\rm e} = 794 \pm 23$ fs is found, which is a typical value for ferromagnetic transition metals and alloys based on them [28, 42, 44–47].

The timescale $\tau_{\rm m}$ is extracted from the fluence-dependent curves (Figure 2a) and plotted in figure 2b as a function of the normalized total demagnetization for each laser fluence. An increase from ~ 13 to ~ 20 ps is observed in the studied fluence range. The error bars are relatively large compared to the apparent spread in the data due to a significant cross-correlation between the magnetic timescale and the typical timescale that governs heat dissipation in the flake. Related to its fluence dependence, the magnetic timescale is also



FIG. 3. (a) Calculated electron (blue) and phonon (red) temperatures, using the M3TM. (b) Demagnetization trace (with $F = 55 \ \mu J \ m^{-2}$ and $T = 80 \ K$), where the black line is the optimal M3TM fit to the data. The inset shows the same data, zoomed in on the first few ps.

dependent on the ambient temperature (figure 2d). We observe a critical slowing down of the magnetization dynamics as T approaches $T_{\rm C}$ which is well reported in literature for standard ferromagnets [44, 48–50].

Detailed information on the dynamic magnetization properties of FGT can be obtained by employing the microscopic 3-Temperature Model (M3TM) [10, 28], which has been tested extensively on a wide variety of materials [28, 44, 51–53]. Similar to the phenomenological 3-Temperature model for ultrafast demagnetization, the magnetic system is subdivided into three separate systems which can exchange energy as well as angular momentum: the electron (e), the phonon (p) and the spin (s) system [1], each characterized by a temperature, $T_{\rm e}, T_{\rm p}$ and $T_{\rm s}$. respectively. A model Hamiltonian is set up to describe the three systems and their interactions. Here, we only focus on the key features of the model; for an extensive treatment, we refer to the original papers [10, 28]. Upon laser excitation, the electron system is heated, bringing the total system in a non-equilibrium state. We assume the subsystems are at internal thermal equilibrium at all times. Furthermore, the heat capacity of the spin system is considered to be negligible. Under these assumptions, energy exchange between the electron and phonon systems is governed by the 2-temperature model (2TM) [54]. An exemplary solution is presented in figure 3a, using parameters shown in section VIII of the supplementary information [32]. The laser-pulse significantly heats up the electron system beyond the Curie temperature. Hereafter, the electron and phonon system equilibrate on a timescale given by $\tau_{\rm e}$.

The angular momentum transfer between the subsystems is represented by $\tau_{\rm m}$ and taken to follow the Elliot-Yafett mechanism for spin relaxation [55, 56]. Here, an electron-phonon scattering event leads to energy exchange between the electron and phonon system. However, due to spin-orbit coupling, the single-electron state is a mix of spin-up and down down states, of the form $\Psi_{\vec{k}} = a_{\vec{k}} |\uparrow\rangle + b_{\vec{k}} |\downarrow\rangle$ [55, 56]. This leads to spin-mixing of electron states near the Fermi level, quantified by the material dependent spin-mixing parameter $\langle b^2 \rangle$. Consequently, there is a finite probability $a_{\rm sf} \propto \langle b^2 \rangle$ for a spin-flip to occur during an electronphonon scattering event, thereby transferring angular momentum between the spin system and the lattice. Transforming the model Hamiltonian to rate equations, the normalized magnetization m can be calculated: [28]:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}m}{\mathrm{d}t} = R \frac{T_{\mathrm{p}}}{T_{\mathrm{C}}} \left[1 - m \coth\left(\frac{T_{\mathrm{C}}}{T_{\mathrm{e}}}\right) \right] \,, \tag{1}$$

$$R = \frac{8a_{\rm sf}g_{\rm ep}k_{\rm B}T_{\rm C}{}^{2}V_{\rm at}}{(\mu_{\rm at}/\mu_{\rm B})E_{\rm D}{}^{2}}.$$
(2)

Here, $k_{\rm B}$, $\mu_{\rm B}$ and $\mu_{\rm at}$ are the Boltmann constant, Bohr magneton and the atomic moment, respectively. $V_{\rm At}$ and $E_{\rm D}$ are the atomic volume and the Debye energy. The material parameter R quantifies the demagnetization rate, and is used to determine a material dependent figure of merit $T_{\rm C}/\mu_{\rm at}$ that provides a simple prediction of the demagnetization rate [28].

An example demagnetization trace, measured at laser fluence $F = 55 \text{ µJ m}^{-2}$ and 80 K, is shown in figure 3b. Model parameters, as presented in section VIII of the supplementary information [32], are extracted from literature, and unknown parameters are chosen such that there is a good agreement between experiment and simulations. We observe the best correspondence for spin-flip probability $a_{\rm sf} = 0.14$. This is relatively large compared to elementary transition metals [28, 44, 57]. However, Kuiper *et al.* have demonstrated that Co/Pt multilayers have significant larger $a_{\rm sf}$ than pure Co due to the proximity of Co to the high SOC Pt [57]. We argue that this is exactly the case in FGT, where the magnetic moment carrying Fe atoms are closely surrounded by the heavy Te atoms. This is corroborated by recent observation of large bulk spin-orbit torques observed in FGT [58, 59]. Although we observe a relatively large $a_{\rm sf}$, the demagnetization process is relatively slow. We attribute this to the sub-room-temperature Curie temperature and large atomic moment, leading to a large figure of merit $T_{\rm C}/\mu_{\rm at}$ and thus slower demagnetization.

The dependence of τ_m on laser fluence and temperature is well described by the M3TM. The simulation results are plotted as a black line in figure 2b and d. We observe the same upward trend for increasing laser fluence, as well as good quantitative prediction of the demagnetization timescale for realistic model parameters. This indicates FGT behaves very similarly to elementary transition and Rare-earth magnets. The theoretical temperature dependence of $\tau_{\rm m}$, as derived in section VII of the supplementary information [32], reads:

$$\tau_{\rm m} = \left(\frac{1}{2R}\right) \left(\frac{1}{1 - \frac{T + \Delta T_{\rm h}}{T_{\rm C}}}\right) \,, \tag{3}$$

which describes the critical slowing down of the dynamics towards the Curie temperature. Here, $\Delta T_{\rm h}$ is the temperature rise due to the average laser induced heating of the FGT flake at high fluence and temperature. Note that this relation is derived for temperatures close to $T_{\rm C}$, so deviations are expected for low temperatures. Using the previously determined $T_{\rm C}$ of 191 K, the data in figure 2d is fitted using this relation, yielding $R = 0.15 \pm 0.01 \text{ ps}^{-1}$. Using equation 2, a spin-flip probability of ~ 0.12 is calculated, which is similar to values found from our time-dependent simulations, and again confirms the large spin-flip probability found for FGT. Furthermore, we extract $\Delta T_{\rm h} = 21 \pm 4$ K from our fitting procedure, which corresponds to a remaining magnetization quenching just before laser excitation of several percents. Our approach is further validated in section X of the supplementary information, where we estimate the temperature rise using hysteresis loops measured with and without sample pumping at negative time delay [32]. The latter yields $\Delta T_{\rm h} = 16 \pm 7$, in line with the value obtained from fitting equation 3.

B. Magnetic-field dependence

Next, in order to study how the symmetry of the FGT crystal structure influences the demagnetization dynamics, we apply an in-plane magnetic field ($\phi_{\rm H} = 0$) to induce a canting of the magnetization, away from the quantization axis. The measurements are done at an ambient temperature of 160 K and a laser fluence of 140 µJ cm⁻² to maximize the demagnetization and thus the effect of the applied field on the magnetization angle (figure 4a). We measure a significant speeding up of the laser-induced demagnetization process for increasing in-plane field, which can be associated with an increase of the spin-flip probability. To visualize the speeding up of the demagnetization dynamics, the delay at the minimum of the demagnetization curve is extracted (figure 4b). A strong anisotropy in $\langle b^2 \rangle$ and thus the spin-flip rate is expected in magnetic systems with lowered symmetry and large SOC, of which FGT is a prime example [29]. Since the effect of the magnetization canting is symmetric with the applied field, the first order approximation of the spin-flip probability is given by:

$$a_{\rm sf} \approx a_{\rm sf,0} \left(1 + C\alpha^2 \right)$$
$$= a_{\rm sf,0} \left[1 + C \left(\frac{H_{\rm ext}}{H_{\rm ani}} \right)^2 \right] , \qquad (4)$$

where $a_{\rm sf,0}$ is the field-free spin-flip probability and α the angle between between the magnetization and the anisotropy field (figure 4c), given by $H_{\rm ext}/H_{\rm ani}$ for small α . Here we use $H_{\rm ani} = 2K_{\rm U}/\mu_0 M_{\rm S}$ with $K_{\rm U}$ the anisotropy constant and $M_{\rm S}$ the saturation magnetization (the values used can be found in section VIII of the supplementary information [32]). The phenomenological parameter C is proportional to the ratio between the two orthogonal components of the spin-flip probability, and therefore a measure for its anisotropy. An increase of $a_{\rm sf}$ leads to lower $\tau_{\rm m}$, which can be expressed in a shift of the minimum of the demagnetization curve $t_{\rm min(m)}$. The M3TM is used to find the relation between $a_{\rm sf}$ and $t_{\rm min(m)}$ (See section IX of the supplementary information [32]). In the lowest order, $t_{\rm min(m)}$ scales linearly with $a_{\rm sf}$, following:

$$t_{\min(m)} = t_0 - t_1 a_{\rm sf} \,, \tag{5}$$

where from the M3TM simulations we find $t_0 = 107.8$ ps and $t_1 = 324.7$ ps. Our results shown in figure 4b are well fitted using the equation above with $C \approx 13$, indicating a (very) strong anisotropy of $a_{\rm sf}$. Our results are realistic when compared to calculations for other materials with reduced symmetry [29, 30]. However, in order to gain a deeper microscopic insight on the spin relaxation anisotropy in vdW materials in general and FGT specifically, *ab-initio* calculations have to be carried out for these materials as well.

Another potential motivation for our field-dependent measurements is to excite FMR modes with the ΔK mechanism, which is schematically shown in figure 4d. Here, a demagnetization reduces the anisotropy of the FGT, thereby quickly reorienting the effective field [6]. This leads to the excitation of damped precessional dynamics. Even though FMR modes have been shown for a similar material –CGT, which possesses a much lower perpendicular magnetic anisotropy (PMA) [19]– in a similar experimental configuration, we do not observe any signs of magnetization precession in our measurements. We explain the



FIG. 4. (a) In-plane ($\phi = 0^{\circ}$) magnetic field dependence of the demagnetization dynamics. The black line indicate fits with two exponential functions and the horizontal lines indicate the minima of the curves. (b) Delay values of minimum demagnetization as a function of H_{ext} . The experimental values are shown by blue circles, the green line shows the simulation results using equation 6 and the black curve is a fit using equation 5. (c) Relevant vectors and angles for the field dependence experiments. The light colors indicate changes to the system after excitation. (d) Illustration of the ΔK mechanism for excitation of FMR modes. (e) Calculated precessional amplitude as a function of the out-of-plane exchange stiffness reduction. The light-blue area indicates our experimental noise threshold. The full datasets are shown in section VI of the supplementary information [32].

absence of the FMR mode in our experiments (figure 4a) by the weak interlayer exchange coupling $A_{\text{ex},\perp}$ due to the vdW stacking in FGT [27, 60, 61]. Furthermore, our EDX data (See section IV of the supplementary information [32]) indicate that in-plane anisotropy fluctuations within the probes area (~ 3 µm) are not unexpected. We hypothesise that these effects lead to a strong dephasing of the measured precessional motion, which could explain the absence of FMR in our measurements.

To test this hypothesis, we use modified LLG equations which take into account the longitudinal magnetization dynamics [62]. Within this framework, the magnetization is given by $\vec{M} = [1 - \Delta M(t)]M_{\rm S}\vec{m}$, where \vec{m} is the unit magnetization vector and $\Delta M(t)$ is the experimental data measured at zero field. Because perturbations are large, an extended

LLG equation is used, given by:

$$\dot{\vec{m}} = \frac{\gamma}{1+\alpha^2} (\vec{m} \times \vec{H}_{\text{eff}} + \alpha [1 - \Delta M(t)] \vec{m} \times \vec{m} \times \vec{H}_{\text{eff}}) + \frac{1}{[1 - \Delta M(t)]} \frac{\mathrm{d}\Delta M(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} \vec{m} , \qquad (6)$$

where the last term takes into account the magnitude change of \vec{M} . The effective field H_{eff} is given by:

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{H}_{\text{eff}} &= \vec{H}_{\text{ext}} + \vec{H}_{\text{demag}} + \vec{H}_{\text{ani}} + \vec{H}_{\text{ex}} \\ &= \vec{H}_{\text{ext}} - \tilde{N} \cdot \vec{M} + \frac{2K_{\text{U}}}{\mu_0 M_{\text{S}}} M_{\text{z}} \\ &+ \frac{2A_{\text{ex},\perp}}{\mu_0 M_{\text{S}}} \sum_{i} \frac{\vec{M} - \vec{M}_{i}}{d_{i}^{2}}, \end{aligned}$$
(7)

where \tilde{N} is the demagnetizing tensor, with $N_{zz} = 1$ for thin films. We simulate every individual layer as a single macrospin coupled to its neighbouring layers *i* (with magnetization $\vec{M_i}$ and at a distance d_i) via an exchange field, of which the strength is given by the interlayer exchange stiffness $A_{ex,\perp}$. To be able to compare experiments and simulations reliably, laser attenuation is taken into account. This is done by scaling the excitation energy via $\Delta M(t)$ with an exponential decay function characterized by the laser penetration depth λ . This scaling also applies as weights when averaging the magnetization of the layers to simulate laser probing.

Our simulations indicate a significant decrease of the amplitude of the FMR mode for weaker interlayer coupling, caused by a strong dephasing of the magnetization off the various layers throughout the flake. Assuming a maximal Gaussian in-plane anisotropy variation $\sigma_{\rm K}$ of 5% and using the parameters presented in section VIII of the supplementary information, we simulate the FMR amplitude as a function of the reduced interlayer exchange stiffness. In figure 4e, we compare this amplitude to the noise threshold, which we estimate from experimental data at negative time delay. The simulations indicate a significant decrease of the FMR mode amplitude for weaker interlayer coupling, crossing the noise threshold indicated by the light-blue area at around $A_{\rm ex,\perp}/A_{\rm ex,\#} = 0.2$, where $A_{\rm ex,\#}$ is the in-plane exchange interaction. This gives us an upper limit for the interlayer exchange stiffness, which is in line with first principle calculations [61] as well as other experimental observations [27], where the ratio between the interlayer and intralayer exchange parameter is reported to be in the order of 0.1. Although FMR oscillations were too small to measure, we note that any FMR signal superimposed onto the demagnetization can in principle lead to a shift of the minimum of the demagnetisation curve. We model this field dependence using equation 6 and plot the results in figure 4b with a green line. Although a slight field dependence is calculated, it is an order of magnitude smaller than what we observe in our experiments. Therefore, we believe that the anisotropy of the spin-flip probability is the only viable explanation for the observed decrease of $t_{\min(m)}$ as a function of applied field.

IV. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Our results on magnetization dynamics in FGT shine light on the use of ultrafast demagnetization to obtain important magnetic parameters in vdW systems. Even though a two-step demagnetization process was obtained, which is usually assigned to a long spin lifetime, a detailed analysis of our results point to the opposite, showing that care must be taken when analysing such results. The strong anisotropy of the spin-flip rate with respect to the magnetization direction, as obtained by our M3TM analysis, provides a powerful method to tune the spin dynamics in two-dimensional magnets.

This property could be further explored to tune the temporal profile of laser-induced spin-currents in vdW magnets [4], or to control the spin and magnon transmission in vdW magnets through a local change of the magnetic anisotropy by electrical gating. Furthermore, the slow dynamics observed in FGT together with its unique magnetic properties make it a prime candidate for all-optical magnetization switching based on vdW materials, when interfaces with a material which exhibits fast dynamics [63]. This would open up new pathways towards ultrafast control of magnetization in future data storage devices.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Mark C.H. de Jong his help with AFM measurements, and Jeroen Francke, Bart van Looij and Gerrie Baselmans for technical support. This work is supported by Stichting voor Fundamenteel Onderzoek der Materie (FOM) through grant 10023746 and the Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (NWO) through grant 10018479. MHDG acknowledges NWO for financial support through the grant Veni 15093.

VI. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

i. More details on pump-probe spectroscopy and the experimental setup

The magnetization of the FGT flake is probed using the magneto-optical Kerr effect (MOKE), which is a second-order non-linear optical effect that couples the electric field (e.g. polarization direction) of an incident laser beam to the magnetization of the material it reflects off of. A change in magnetization can thus be measured by carefully probing the polarization of the reflected light, which is done with a crossed polarized scheme.

Ultrafast laser-pulse induced dynamics are measured using pump-probe spectroscopy, where the time-resolved magnetization is probed using MOKE. Linearly polarized laser pulses are generated by a Ti:sapphire laser system at a repetition rate of 82 MHz and a wavelength of 735 nm. The pulse duration at sample position is in the order of 85 fs. Both pump and probe beams are focused onto the flake with a spots of size of $9.6 \times 6.6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ and $2.9 \times 1.7 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ respectively. To extract the pump-induced change of the magnetization, the pump beam is mechanically chopped at 67 Hz. Furthermore the polarization of the probe is modulated at 50 kHz by a photoelastic modulator, where the optical axis is chosen such that the polarization oscillates between linearly and circularly polarized light. A dual lock-in scheme, using the two aforementioned frequencies, is used to measure the magneto-optical (MO) signal. The setup geometry is chosen such that only the out-of-plane component of the Kerr rotation is probed. A detailed description of the technique and a schematic overview of the used setup can be found in refs. [64] and [65].

ii. Data normalization

The demagnetization curves presented in this paper are normalized by comparing the stepsize of hysteresis loops at negative time delay (when the probe arrives before the pump) and the delay at maximum demagnetization (figure S1). The extracted value $1 - A_{\text{Neg}}/A_{\text{Max}}$ indicates the percentage of the lost magnetization during demagnetization in the probed area. In a similar fashion, by comparing hysteresis loops measured at negative time delay and without the pump beam, the remaining magnetization value at temporal pump-probe overlap is deduced. An average of three loops is taken to determine stepsizes accurately.



FIG. S1. Hysteresis loops typically measured to normalize demagnetization data. As indicated in the inset, loops are measured at negative delay and maximum demagnetization. The ratio between the two stepsizes indicates the lost angular momentum in the probed sample area.

The measured value of interest is the maximum demagnetization at peak laser power, measured at the centre of the spatially Gaussian laser pulse. However, due to the similar pump (σ_{pu}) and probe (σ_{pr}) size, an average over a much larger region is measured. The ratio between the measurements and the maximum demagnetization is given by:

$$\frac{\Delta m_0}{\Delta m_{\max}} = \frac{\sigma_{pu,x}\sigma_{pu,y}}{\sqrt{\left(\sigma_{pr,x}^2 + \sigma_{pu,x}^2\right)\left(\sigma_{pr,y}^2 + \sigma_{pu,y}^2\right)}} \,. \tag{8}$$

This equation is used to extract the maximal demagnetization Δm_{max} using the experimentally observed demagnetization averaged over the probe beam area Δm_0 .

iii. Data fitting using the 3-temperature model

We employ the phenomenological 3-temperature model to extract the demagnetization timescales from our measurements. Here, the electron, phonon and spin baths are coupled via phenomenological coupling parameters. Assuming an instantaneous rise of the electron temperature upon laser excitation and negligible spin specific heat, a fitting function that describes laser-induced demagnetization can be derived is the low-fluence limit [41]. This function is given by

$$-\frac{\Delta M_{\rm z}(t)}{M_{\rm s}} = \left[\left(A_1 F\left(\tau_{\rm d}, t\right) - \frac{\left(A_2 \tau_{\rm e} - A_1 \tau_{\rm m}\right) e^{-\frac{t}{\tau_{\rm m}}}}{\tau_{\rm e} - \tau_{\rm m}} - \frac{\tau_e \left(A_1 - A_2\right) e^{-\frac{t}{\tau_{\rm e}}}}{\tau_{\rm e} - \tau_{\rm m}} \right) \Theta(t) + A_3 \delta(t) \right]$$

$$\times \Gamma(P_0, \sigma, t) .$$
(9)

Here, A_1 represents the magnetization value after temporal equilibrium between the baths. A_2 is a measure for the initial rise of the electron temperature and A_3 captures non-magnetic effects that occur during temporal pump-probe overlap. $F(\tau_d, t)$ describes sample cooling via heat diffusion. In our case we use a simple decaying exponential function, where $\tau_d \gg \tau_e, \tau_m$. $\Theta(t)$ is the Heaviside step-function used to describe laser heating and $\delta(t)$ a delta function. A convolution with a Gaussian temporal laser profile $\Gamma(P_0, \sigma, t_0)$ is taken, where P_0, σ and t_0 represent the laser fluence, pulse length and time of excitation respectively.

To avoid overparameterization of the fitting function, several parameters are shared for all measurements. The pulse width s = 0.085 ps is fixed and the heat diffusion constant, which is determined by material parameters, are shared among all measurements. As mentioned in the main text, $\tau_{\rm e}$ is assumed to be temperature independent, and can therefore be shared as well.

iv. Fe content in bulk FGT crystal

We performed energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) measurements to verify the Fe content in our bulk FGT crystal. The scanning electron microscope image is shown in figure S2a and the spectra corresponding to the indicated squares in figure S2b. The resulting composition was normalized on the abundance of tellurium. This approach is validated by considering that the abundance of Te was mostly constant over the different measurements, with an average of 2.00 ± 0.03 , where the standard deviation is attributed to the measurement error. We measure Fe_{2.73(4)}Ge_{1.17(2)}Te₂, Fe_{2.99(4)}Ge_{1.04(1)}Te₂ and Fe_{2.94(4)}Ge_{1.11(2)}Te₂ for the blue, red and green rectangle respectively. As follows, the crystal is iron deficient, explaining the deviation of T_C from its literature value. In addition, the deficiency is found the be nonuniform across the crystal, which can lead to spatial variations in its magnetic properties.



FIG. S2. (a) SEM image of the bulk FGT crystal used for EDX measurements. The colored boxes indicate areas where the measurements shown in (b) were performed.

v. Atomic force microscopy image of the FGT flake shown in the main text

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) is used to determine the thickness of our FGT flake (figure S3). The results indeed show the probed area is uniform in thickness. We extract the thickness at 5 different edges, yielding an average thickness of 16.8 ± 0.7 nm, corresponding to approximately 20 layers when assuming ~0.8 nm layer spacing.



FIG. S3. (a) AFM image of our FGT flake used in the main text, zoomed in on the area probed in our experiments. The blue line indicates the thickness scan shown in (b).

vi. Full datasets of ultrafast demagnetization



For clarity, only a few data sets are shown in the main text. In figure S4, all experimental data are presented.

FIG. S4. Additional experimental data ultrafast demagnetization. (a) and (b) show the full data set for the fluence dependence shown in figure 2 of the main text. (c) Full temperature dependence shown in figure 2d of the main text. (d) Full field dependence shown in figure 4b of the main text. Black lines indicate fits as described in the main text.

vii. More details on the microscopic 3-temperature model

In the microscopic 3-temperature model, the energy exchange between electron and phonon baths is governed by the 2-temperature model:

$$\gamma T_{\rm e} \frac{\mathrm{d}T_{\rm e}}{\mathrm{d}t} = g_{\rm ep}(T_{\rm p} - T_{\rm e}) + \frac{P_0}{\sigma\sqrt{\pi}} e^{\frac{-t^2}{\sigma^2}}, \qquad (10)$$

$$C_{\rm p} \frac{{\rm d}T_{\rm p}}{{\rm d}t} = g_{\rm ep}(T_{\rm e} - T_{\rm p}) + C_{\rm p} \frac{T_{\rm amb} - T_{\rm p}}{\tau_{\rm d}}.$$
 (11)

Here, γ , $C_{\rm p}$ and $g_{\rm ep}$ the electron heat capacity constant, the phonon heat capacity and the electron-phonon interaction constant respectively. The electron system is heated by the laser pulse, which is characterized by absorbed laser fluence P_0 and pulse duration σ . Heat diffusion with a typical timescale $\tau_{\rm d}$ from the phonon system to the surrounding $(T_{\rm amb})$ is included as well. The above equations are used to simulate the data in figure 3a in the main text.

Equation 3 of the main text was first derived by Schellekens [66]. While ignoring heat dissipation in the the FGT flake, for small perturbations and near $T = T_{\rm C}$, the temperature dependence of the magnetization can be written as:

$$m = \sqrt{3\left(1 - \frac{T}{T_C}\right)}.$$
(12)

The temperature dependence of the magnetic relaxation timescale can be determined by assuming that the electron and phonon baths are heated instantly by an amount ΔT . In this case, $\tau_{\rm m}$ is approximated by

$$\tau_{\rm m} = \frac{\Delta m(\infty)}{\dot{m}(0)} \,. \tag{13}$$

The total lost magnetization can be calculated using equation 12:

$$\Delta m(\infty) = \Delta T \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{T=T_{\mathrm{t}=0}} = \frac{\sqrt{3}\Delta T}{2\sqrt{T_{\mathrm{C}}(T_{\mathrm{t}=0} - T_{\mathrm{C}})}} \,. \tag{14}$$

Expanding equation 1 of the main text around m = 0 and assuming an equilibrated system at $T_e = T_p = T$ yields

$$\dot{m}(0) = \Delta T \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\dot{m}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{T=T_{\mathrm{t}=0}} = -\frac{\Delta T R m}{T_{\mathrm{C}}} \,. \tag{15}$$

Now we can substitute equation 14 and 15 into equation 13 to calculate $\tau_{\rm m}$, yielding

$$\tau_{\rm m} = \left(\frac{1}{2R}\right) \left(\frac{1}{1 - \frac{T_{\rm t=0}}{T_{\rm C}}}\right) \,. \tag{16}$$

If the magnetic material is allowed to completely relax back to equilibrium between laser excitation events, $T_{t=0}$ would be equal to the ambient temperature. However, between two consecutive pulses the FGT has not been completely remagnetized, which leads the an average heating effect of the flake, elevating it's average temperature above the ambient temperature. This effect is solely induced by the laser fluence and is therefore temperature independent. This means $T_{t=0}$ can be written as $T + \Delta T_{\rm h}$, where $T_{\rm h}$ is the temperature rise due to the average heating effect.

viii. Simulation parameters

TABLE S1. Numerical values used in the microscopic 3-temperature model (M3TM) and Landau–Lifshitz–Gilbert (LLG) calculations. The values for the respective models are separated by a horizontal line.

Model	symbol	meaning	estimate	unit
M3TM	$\mu_a t$	Atomic magnetic moment ^a	1.47×10^{-23}	Am^2
	γ	Electron heat capacity constant ^a	1561	$\rm Jm^{-3}K^{-2}$
	$V_{\rm at}$	Atom spin density volume $^{\rm a}$	1.68×10^{-29}	m^3
	$T_{\rm C}$	Curie temperature ^b	191	Κ
	σ	pulse width $^{\rm b}$	85	fs
	$g_{ m ep}$	Electron-phonon relaxation rate $^{\rm c}$	1.33×10^6	$\mathrm{Jm^{-3}K^{-1}ps^{-1}}$
	$C_{\rm p}$	phonon heat capacity $^{\rm c}$	6.28×10^6	$\rm Jm^{-3}K^{-1}$
	$E_{\rm D}$	Debeye energy ^c	6.49×10^{-21}	J
	$a_{\rm sf}$	Spin-flip probability	0.14	unity
	$ au_{ m d}$	Heat diffusion timescale	350	\mathbf{ps}
LLG	$K_{\rm U}$	Uniaxial anisotropy constant $^{\rm d}$	438	kJm ⁻³
	$M_{\rm S}$	Saturation magnetization ^d	225.6	$\rm kAm^{-1}$
	$A_{\mathrm{ex},//}$	In-plane exchange stiffness $^{\rm e}$	1	pJm^{-1}
	d	Interlayer distance ^f	0.817	nm
	λ	Laser penetration depth $^{\rm g}$	20	nm
	α	damping parameter ^g	0.05	unity

^a Taken from Ref. [36].

- ^b Based on measurements presented in main text.
- ^c First estimations based on Fe [67].
- ^d Estimated for T = 160 K based on measurements done in Ref. [68] and [69].
- ^e Taken from Ref. [68].
- ^f Taken from Ref. [70].
- $^{\rm g}$ Estimated.

ix. Relation between the maximum demagnetization and the spin-flip probability

We employed the M3TM to find the relation between the delay at the minimum of the demagnetization trace and the spin-flip probability $a_{\rm sf}$ (figure S5). This delay $t_{\rm min(m)}$ linearly decreases as $a_{\rm sf}$ is increased. A linear fit of the data yields:

$$t_{\min(m)} = 107.8 - 324.7 \cdot a_{\rm sf} \,. \tag{17}$$



FIG. S5. The relation between the time delay for maximum demagnetization and the spin-flip probability, as calculated with the M3TM.

x. Average laser heating of the FGT flake

This temperature difference $\Delta T_{\rm h}$ due to laser heating can also be estimated based on the step size of hysteresis loops following a similar procedure as described in Sec. II of this Supplementary Information. Here, hysteresis loops taken at negative time delay are compared, measured with and without sample pumping. In this way, the impact of average heating on the magnetization is measured. The relative difference in magnetization due to average heating can then be related to temperature rise using the experimentally obtained M vs. T (vibrating sample magnetometry) curve for bulk FGT as as a look-up table (figure S6). From this we estimate an average heating of $\Delta T_{\rm h} = 16 \pm 7$, in line with the fitting parameter found in the main text.



FIG. S6. Bulk magnetization as a function of temperature measured using vibrating sample magnetometry.

- E. Beaurepaire, J.-C. Merle, A. Daunois, and J.-Y. Bigot, Physical review letters 76, 4250 (1996).
- [2] C. Stanciu, F. Hansteen, A. Kimel, A. Kirilyuk, A. Tsukamoto, A. Itoh, and T. Rasing, Physical review letters 99, 047601 (2007).
- [3] G. Malinowski, F. Dalla Longa, J. H. Rietjens, P. V. Paluskar, R. Huijink, H. J. Swagten, and B. Koopmans, Nature Physics 4, 855 (2008).
- [4] G. M. Choi, B. C. Min, K. J. Lee, and D. G. Cahill, Nature Communications 5, 1 (2014).
- [5] A. J. Schellekens, K. C. Kuiper, R. R. J. C. De Wit, and B. Koopmans, Nature Communications 5, 1 (2014).
- [6] M. Van Kampen, C. Jozsa, J. Kohlhepp, P. LeClair, L. Lagae, W. De Jonge, and B. Koopmans, Physical review letters 88, 227201 (2002).
- [7] T. Satoh, N. P. Duong, and M. Fiebig, Physical Review B 74, 012404 (2006).
- [8] C. Tzschaschel, T. Satoh, and M. Fiebig, Nature communications 10, 1 (2019).
- [9] G. Zhang and W. Hübner, Physical Review Letters 85, 3025 (2000).
- [10] B. Koopmans, J. Ruigrok, F. Dalla Longa, and W. De Jonge, Physical review letters 95, 267207 (2005).
- [11] M. Djordjevic and M. Münzenberg, Physical Review B 75, 012404 (2007).
- [12] M. Battiato, K. Carva, and P. M. Oppeneer, Physical Review Letters 105, 1 (2010).
- [13] J.-U. Lee, S. Lee, J. H. Ryoo, S. Kang, T. Y. Kim, P. Kim, C.-H. Park, J.-G. Park, and H. Cheong, Nano letters 16, 7433 (2016).
- [14] Y. Deng, Y. Yu, Y. Song, J. Zhang, N. Z. Wang, Z. Sun, Y. Yi, Y. Z. Wu, S. Wu, J. Zhu, et al., Nature 563, 94 (2018).
- [15] C. Gong, L. Li, Z. Li, H. Ji, A. Stern, Y. Xia, T. Cao, W. Bao, C. Wang, Y. Wang, et al., Nature 546, 265 (2017).
- B. Huang, G. Clark, E. Navarro-Moratalla, D. R. Klein, R. Cheng, K. L. Seyler, D. Zhong,
 E. Schmidgall, M. A. McGuire, D. H. Cobden, *et al.*, Nature 546, 270 (2017).
- [17] M. Bonilla, S. Kolekar, Y. Ma, H. C. Diaz, V. Kalappattil, R. Das, T. Eggers, H. R. Gutierrez, M.-H. Phan, and M. Batzill, Nature nanotechnology 13, 289 (2018).

- [18] T. Zhang, Y. Chen, Y. Li, Z. Guo, Z. Wang, Z. Han, W. He, and J. Zhang, Applied Physics Letters 116, 223103 (2020).
- [19] T. Sun, C. Zhou, Z. Jiang, X. Li, K. Qiu, R. Xiao, C. Liu, Z. Ma, X. Luo, Y. Sun, et al., 2D Materials 8, 045040 (2021).
- [20] Z. Fei, B. Huang, P. Malinowski, W. Wang, T. Song, J. Sanchez, W. Yao, D. Xiao, X. Zhu, A. F. May, et al., Nature materials 17, 778 (2018).
- [21] Z. Wang, D. Sapkota, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, D. Mandrus, and A. F. Morpurgo, Nano letters 18, 4303 (2018).
- [22] D. Li, The Journal of Physical Chemistry C **125**, 16228 (2021).
- [23] M. Alghamdi, M. Lohmann, J. Li, P. R. Jothi, Q. Shao, M. Aldosary, T. Su, B. P. Fokwa, and J. Shi, Nano letters 19, 4400 (2019).
- [24] I. Shin, W. J. Cho, E.-S. An, S. Park, H.-W. Jeong, S. Jang, W. J. Baek, S. Y. Park, D.-H. Yang, J. H. Seo, et al., Advanced Materials, 2101730 (2021).
- [25] B. Zhao, R. Ngaloy, A. M. Hoque, B. Karpiak, D. Khokhriakov, and S. P. Dash, arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.00310 (2021).
- [26] Y. Wu, S. Zhang, J. Zhang, W. Wang, Y. L. Zhu, J. Hu, G. Yin, K. Wong, C. Fang, C. Wan, et al., Nature communications 11, 1 (2020).
- [27] M. J. Meijer, J. Lucassen, R. A. Duine, H. J. Swagten, B. Koopmans, R. Lavrijsen, and M. H. Guimarães, Nano letters 20, 8563 (2020).
- [28] B. Koopmans, G. Malinowski, F. Dalla Longa, D. Steiauf, M. Fähnle, T. Roth, M. Cinchetti, and M. Aeschlimann, Nature materials 9, 259 (2010).
- [29] B. Zimmermann, P. Mavropoulos, S. Heers, N. H. Long, S. Blügel, and Y. Mokrousov, Physical review letters 109, 236603 (2012).
- [30] B. Zimmermann, P. Mavropoulos, N. H. Long, C.-R. Gerhorst, S. Blügel, and Y. Mokrousov, Physical Review B 93, 144403 (2016).
- [31] C. F. Macrae, I. Sovago, S. J. Cottrell, P. T. Galek, P. McCabe, E. Pidcock, M. Platings, G. P. Shields, J. S. Stevens, M. Towler, *et al.*, Journal of applied crystallography 53, 226 (2020).
- [32] See supplementary materials for (i) more details on pump-probe spectroscopy and the experimental setup [64, 65] (ii) details on data normalization, (iii) data fitting using the 3-temperature model, (iv) edx measurements done to determine fe content in bulk fgt crystal, (v) atomic force microscopy image of the studied fgt flake, (vi) full datasets of ultrafast de-

magnetization, (vii) more details on the microscopic 3-temperature model [66], (viii) used simulation parameters [67–70], (ix) the measured relation between the maximum demagnetization and the spin-flip probability and (x) further discussion on average laser heating.

- [33] R. Guida and J. Zinn-Justin, Nuclear Physics B 489, 626 (1997).
- [34] H.-J. Deiseroth, K. Aleksandrov, C. Reiner, L. Kienle, and R. K. Kremer, (2006).
- [35] B. Chen, J. Yang, H. Wang, M. Imai, H. Ohta, C. Michioka, K. Yoshimura, and M. Fang, Journal of the Physical Society of Japan 82, 124711 (2013).
- [36] J.-X. Zhu, M. Janoschek, D. Chaves, J. Cezar, T. Durakiewicz, F. Ronning, Y. Sassa, M. Mansson, B. Scott, N. Wakeham, et al., Physical Review B 93, 144404 (2016).
- [37] H. L. Zhuang, P. Kent, and R. G. Hennig, Physical Review B 93, 134407 (2016).
- [38] A. F. May, S. Calder, C. Cantoni, H. Cao, and M. A. McGuire, Physical Review B 93, 014411 (2016).
- [39] A. Vaterlaus, T. Beutler, and F. Meier, Physical review letters 67, 3314 (1991).
- [40] J.-W. Kim, K.-D. Lee, J.-W. Jeong, and S.-C. Shin, Applied Physics Letters **94**, 192506 (2009).
- [41] F. Dalla Longa, J. Kohlhepp, W. De Jonge, and B. Koopmans, Physical Review B 75, 224431 (2007).
- [42] J. Hodak, I. Martini, and G. V. Hartland, Chemical physics letters 284, 135 (1998).
- [43] X. Wang, S. Nie, J. Li, R. Clinite, J. E. Clark, and J. Cao, Physical Review B 81, 220301 (2010).
- [44] T. Roth, A. Schellekens, S. Alebrand, O. Schmitt, D. Steil, B. Koopmans, M. Cinchetti, and M. Aeschlimann, Physical Review X 2, 021006 (2012).
- [45] R. Schoenlein, W. Lin, J. Fujimoto, and G. Eesley, Physical Review Letters 58, 1680 (1987).
- [46] C.-K. Sun, F. Vallée, L. Acioli, E. Ippen, and J. Fujimoto, Physical Review B 48, 12365 (1993).
- [47] R. H. Groeneveld, R. Sprik, and A. Lagendijk, Physical Review B 51, 11433 (1995).
- [48] T. Kise, T. Ogasawara, M. Ashida, Y. Tomioka, Y. Tokura, and M. Kuwata-Gonokami, Physical Review Letters 85, 1986 (2000).
- [49] C. Kantner, M. Langner, W. Siemons, J. Blok, G. Koster, A. J. Rijnders, R. Ramesh, and J. Orenstein, Physical Review B 83, 134432 (2011).
- [50] J. Kimling, J. Kimling, R. Wilson, B. Hebler, M. Albrecht, and D. G. Cahill, Physical Review B 90, 224408 (2014).

- [51] S. Iihama, Y. Sasaki, H. Naganuma, M. Oogane, S. Mizukami, and Y. Ando, Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics 49, 035002 (2015).
- [52] K. Bobowski, M. Gleich, N. Pontius, C. Schüßler-Langeheine, C. Trabant, M. Wietstruk,
 B. Frietsch, and M. Weinelt, Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 29, 234003 (2017).
- [53] P. Padmanabhan, F. Buessen, R. Tutchton, K. Kwock, S. Gilinsky, M. Lee, M. McGuire, S. Singamaneni, D. Yarotski, A. Paramekanti, *et al.*, arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.04915 (2020).
- [54] S. Anisimov, B. Kapeliovich, T. Perelman, et al., Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz 66, 375 (1974).
- [55] R. J. Elliott, Physical Review 96, 266 (1954).
- [56] Y. Yafet, in *Solid state physics*, Vol. 14 (Elsevier, 1963) pp. 1–98.
- [57] K. Kuiper, T. Roth, A. Schellekens, O. Schmitt, B. Koopmans, M. Cinchetti, and M. Aeschlimann, Applied Physics Letters 105, 202402 (2014).
- [58] Ø. Johansen, V. Risinggård, A. Sudbø, J. Linder, and A. Brataas, Physical Review Letters 122, 217203 (2019).
- [59] F. Martin, K. Lee, M. Schmitt, A. Liedtke, A. Shahee, H. T. Simensen, T. Scholz, T. G. Saunderson, D. Go, M. Gradhand, et al., arXiv preprint arXiv:2107.09420 (2021).
- [60] E. van Walsem, R. A. Duine, and M. H. Guimarães, Physical Review B 102, 174403 (2020).
- [61] H. Wang, R. Xu, C. Liu, L. Wang, Z. Zhang, H. Su, S. Wang, Y. Zhao, Z. Liu, D. Yu, et al., The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters 11, 7313 (2020).
- [62] K.-D. Lee, H.-S. Song, J.-W. Kim, H. S. Ko, J.-W. Sohn, B.-G. Park, and S.-C. Shin, Applied Physics Express 7, 113004 (2014).
- [63] M. Lalieu, M. Peeters, S. Haenen, R. Lavrijsen, and B. Koopmans, Physical review B 96, 220411 (2017).
- [64] B. Koopmans, M. Van Kampen, J. Kohlhepp, and W. De Jonge, Journal of Applied Physics 87, 5070 (2000).
- [65] M. D. Guimaraes and B. Koopmans, Physical Review Letters 120, 266801 (2018).
- [66] A. J. Schellekens, Manipulating spins: Novel methods for controlling magnetization dynamics on the ultimate timescale, Ph.D. thesis, Eindhoven University of Technology (2014).
- [67] M. Sultan, U. Atxitia, A. Melnikov, O. Chubykalo-Fesenko, and U. Bovensiepen, Physical Review B 85, 184407 (2012).
- [68] N. León-Brito, E. D. Bauer, F. Ronning, J. D. Thompson, and R. Movshovich, Journal of Applied Physics 120, 083903 (2016).

- [69] J.-j. Guo, Q.-l. Xia, X.-g. Wang, Y.-z. Nie, R. Xiong, and G.-h. Guo, Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials 527, 167719 (2021).
- [70] P. Villars, K. Cenzual, and R. Gladyshevskii, Handbook of Inorganic Substances 2015 (Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co KG, 2014).